

# living

A guide to your rights and responsibilities of riverside ownership We are the Environment Agency. It's our job to look after your environment and make it a better place – for you, and for future generations.

Your environment is the air you breathe, the water you drink and the ground you walk on. Working with business, Government and society as a whole, we are making your environment cleaner and healthier.

### The Environment Agency. Out there, making your environment a better place.

Please be aware that the text under the heading Navigation on page 27 of the digital PDF copy of this booklet does not match the hard copy (version 4). The text has been amended and this update will be included within the printed version when the next edition is released.

#### Published by:

Environment Agency Horizon House, Deanery Road, Bristol, BS1 5AH Tel: 0870 8506506 Email: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk www.environment-agency.gov.uk

#### © Environment Agency

All rights reserved. This document may be reproduced with prior permission of the Environment Agency. June 2013



4th edition, 2013

Watercourses enhance our lives in so many ways and yet they can also pose a threat when in flood. They need to be respected, protected and improved for our benefit and for future generations. That is why there is a significant amount of legal safeguards that we all need to comply with.



#### Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Your rights and responsibilities	
3	Flood risk management	
4	Understanding flood risk	
5	Flood defence/ordinary watercourse consents	11
6	Planning permission	14
7	Other consents and licences	15
8	Water Framework Directive	18
9	Culverts	19
10	Mills and weirs	20

11	Tidal watercourses	21
12	Erosion of river banks	22
13	Land management	23
14	The role of other organisations	26
15	Explanation of terms	28

#### **Appendices**

1	The role of the	
	Environment Agency	30
2	The role of your local authority and Internal	
	Drainage Board	32

Environment Agency Living on the edge 1

# **1** Introduction

If you own land or property next to a river, stream or ditch you are a 'riparian landowner' and this guide is for you. It has been updated with new information on who to contact for guidance on watercourses.

Your rights as a riparian landowner have been established in common law for many years, but they may be affected by other laws. You may need permission for some activities from a third party, such as your local authority (unitary, county or district council), Internal Drainage Board or the Environment Agency. These organisations are known as risk management authorities, and their role is described in Appendices 1 and 2.



This guide explains:

- your rights and responsibilities as a riparian landowner. It also explains the roles of your risk management authority and other organisations you may need to work with.
- who is responsible for flood risk management and flood defences, and what that means in practice.
- how you can work with your risk management authority and other organisations to protect and improve the natural environment of our rivers and streams.

Your risk management authority has powers and responsibilities to manage flood risk and work with others to improve the river environment in England and Wales.

A watercourse is any natural or artificial channel above or below ground through which water flows, such as a river, brook, beck, ditch, mill stream or culvert. Your risk management authority can give you advice and guidance on managing your watercourse. However, depending on the situation, they will not approve or consent to work that would harm the environment or increase flood risk, even if the works are structurally sound. They will discourage culverting, diverting or channelling watercourses and building into watercourses, known as encroachment. They will promote 'soft engineering' methods to control erosion (see section 12).

If you are not sure who to contact please visit the Environment Agency website: www.environment-agency. gov.uk or call 03708 506 506.

For help and information during a flood call Floodline on 0845 988 1188.

# 2 Your rights and responsibilities

If you own land adjoining, above or with a watercourse running through it, you have certain rights and responsibilities. In legal terms you are a 'riparian owner'. If you rent the land, you should agree with the owner who will manage these rights and responsibilities.



A STORING ARREST MAD TO THE FORWARD AND A COMPACT AND A DAWN FORWARD A DAWN A DAWN A DAWN A DAWN A DAWN A DAWN

#### Your rights

- If your land boundary is next to a watercourse it is assumed you own the land up to the centre of the watercourse, unless it is owned by someone else.
- If a watercourse runs alongside your garden wall or hedge you should check your property deeds to see if the wall or hedge marks your boundary. If the watercourse marks the boundary, it is assumed you own the land up to the centre of the watercourse.
- If you own land with a watercourse running through or underneath it, it is assumed you own the stretch of watercourse that runs through your land.
- Occasionally a watercourse, especially an artificial one, will be the responsibility of a third party. This should be noted in your deeds.
- Water should flow onto or under your land in its natural quantity and quality. This means that water should not be taken out of a watercourse if it could lead to a lack of water for those who need it

downstream. It also means that a person cannot carry out activities that could lead to pollution of the water and therefore reduce the natural water quality within a watercourse. More information on the permissions required to abstract water from a watercourse (section 7) and what to do if you spot pollution in your local watercourse is included in this booklet.

- You have the right to protect your property from flooding, and your land from erosion. However, you must get your plans agreed with the risk management authority before you start work (see section 5).
- You usually have the right to fish in your watercourse using a legal method. Anyone aged 12 or over must have a valid Environment Agency rod licence. It is important to check what your rights are, because fishing rights can be sold or leased.

These rights are affected by your duty to other riparian landowners, the community and the environment.

#### Your responsibilities

- You must let water flow through your land without any obstruction, pollution or diversion which affects the rights of others. Others also have the right to receive water in its natural quantity and quality as explained in the Your Rights Section. You should be aware that all riparian owners have the same rights and responsibilities.
- You must accept flood flows through your land, even if these are caused by inadequate capacity downstream. A landowner has no duty in common law to improve the drainage capacity of a watercourse he/she owns.
- You should keep the banks clear of anything that could cause an obstruction and increase flood risk. either on your land or downstream if it is washed away. You are responsible for maintaining the bed and banks of the watercourse and the trees and shrubs growing on the banks. You should also clear any litter and animal carcasses from the channel and banks, even if they did not come from your land. You may need your risk management authority's consent for these works (see section 5). Your local authority can advise you on the removal of animal carcasses.

- You should always leave a development-free edge on the banks next to a watercourse. This allows for easy access to the watercourse in case any maintenance or inspection is required. In some areas local byelaws exist which explain what you can and cannot do within certain distances of a watercourse. For more information on works near watercourses you should contact your risk management authority.
- You must keep any structures, such as culverts, trash screens, weirs and mill gates, clear of debris. Discuss the maintenance of flood defences, such as walls and embankments, on your property with your risk management authority. They may be vital for flood protection.
- You should not cause obstructions, temporary or permanent, that would stop fish passing through.
- You have a legal obligation to notify the Environment Agency and the relevant risk management authority if you would like to build or alter a structure that acts as an obstruction to a watercourse. Under the Eel Regulations in some cases it may be an offence if you do not notify the Environment Agency of the above.

- Please help to protect water quality. Do not use riverbanks to dispose of garden or other waste, where it could be washed into the river. This includes grass cuttings, which pollute the water.
- You are responsible for protecting your property from water that seeps through natural or artificial banks. Where this damages a flood defence, your risk management authority may require you to pay for repairs.
- You must control invasive alien species such as Japanese knotweed. Your local risk management authority can advise you on how to manage and control these species.
- Make sure any work you do on a watercourse fits with the natural river system. Work must not damage wildlife and wherever possible you should try and improve the habitat. Speak to the relevant risk management authority about wildlife and nature conservation.

If you are not sure what you have to do and/or are new to living near a watercourse, ask your risk management authority for advice.

Your property may include a watercourse that runs in a culvert. You have the same responsibilities for the upkeep of the culvert as if it was an open watercourse.

## If you do not carry out your responsibilities, you could face legal action.

If you see any activity that could damage the environment or increase flood risk, please report it to your risk management authority as soon as possible. Water and land pollution or blockages which increase the risk of flooding should be reported to the Environment Agency incident hotline on 0800 80 70 60 (Freephone\*, 24 hour service). Do not report incidents by email as this could delay the response.

\*Calls from mobile phones are charged at your network operator's rates.

# 3 Flood risk management

As a riparian owner you also have a responsibility to manage your own flood risk.

More than two million properties in England and Wales are at risk from flooding from rivers and the sea. Changes in our climate, resulting in fiercer storms and wetter winters, will increase that risk. It will never be possible to prevent flooding but we can all manage flood risk to reduce the likelihood of flooding and its impact.

The term 'flood risk management' is used to describe the work of risk management authorities such as the Environment Agency, local authorities and Internal Drainage Boards. They aim to reduce the likelihood of flooding by:

 managing flood risk from all sources including river and coastal systems, surface runoff and ground water;

- constructing and managing defences, where appropriate;
- maintaining watercourses and flood defences, where appropriate.

They work together to reduce the impact of floods through:

- influencing land use planning, what is built and where;
- regulating works carried out in rivers;
- better flood warning;
- faster emergency responses.

There is more information about what the Environment Agency, local authorities and Internal Drainage Boards do in Appendices 1 and 2.



#### **IMPORTANT NOTE**

Your risk management authority can designate a feature on your land as a flood risk management asset. Features and structures such as garden walls that were not designed to manage flood risk can still help to do that job.

They will give you at least 28 days notice if they decide to do this. They will also give you details of the feature and explain why they want to designate it. You have a right to challenge any designation if you do not agree with what is proposed.

Features and structures that have been designated as an asset cannot be altered, removed or replaced without the consent of the responsible authority. For further information and guidance please contact your risk management authority.

Flood and coastal erosion risk management plans look at flood risk on a large scale. This allows risk management authorities to examine whether reducing risk in one area might change, or even increase, the risk elsewhere.

During a flood, your local authority provides emergency aid to householders, which may include supplying sandbags. Please contact your local authority for further information on its role during a flood.

# 4 Understanding flood risk

Floodwater can come from overland flow, groundwater, rivers and the sea. Land and property near watercourses and the sea could be at risk from flooding. The Environment Agency can tell you about that risk, how flood warnings are issued, and what to do when there is a flood.

The Environment Agency's maps show the extent of flooding from rivers and the sea in England and Wales. They are available from Environment Agency local offices or online at www.environment-agency.gov.uk/ maps. The maps also show flood defences and the areas they protect.

You should also telephone the Environment Agency's Floodline on 0845 988 1188 for local flood risk information and to find out if you can receive free flood warnings. For further information on flooding and advice on how to prepare for a flood, how to reduce the impact of flooding and what to do when it floods, visit the Environment Agency website at www.environment-agency.gov. uk/homeandleisure/floods. Your risk management authority and the National Flood Forum (floodforum. org.uk) are also good sources of information and help.

#### **RIVERS CAN BE DANGEROUS**

Water may look harmless, but it can hide strong flows. Water can be deep and powerful, especially near weirs and sluices. Always be aware of the risk of possible injury or even death when around water.

# 5 Flood defence/ ordinary watercourse consents

You should discuss your plans to work on or near a watercourse with your risk management authority as early as possible. Submit your plans both to the risk management authority and to your local planning authority. The risk management authority will tell you whether you need its consent before doing the works. It takes many environmental factors into account before authorising work. These include flood risk, wildlife conservation, fisheries, tidal limits and the reshaping of the river and landscape.



#### Flood defence/ordinary watercourse consents

Some sites are important for conservation or have archaeological value. If your work would affect one of these sites, you may need other permissions from the relevant English or Welsh authorities (see section 14 The role of other organisations).

The type of consent you need will depend on the type of watercourse you want to work in.

### 1. Flood Defence Consents for works on main rivers

The Water Resources Act 1991 and associated byelaws require you to contact your local Environment Agency office to apply for formal consent for works in, over, under or adjacent to main rivers. Main rivers are defined in section 15 below

The current application fee is £50 per structure.

#### 2. Flood Defence (in England) / Ordinary Watercourse (in Wales) Consents for works on ordinary watercourses

Under the Land Drainage Act 1991, you need your local authority or Internal Drainage Board to approve any works that will create or alter a mill dam, weir or other similar obstruction to the flow of an ordinary watercourse, including any proposals to install culverts or alter them in a manner that would be likely to affect the flow of water. Ordinary watercourses are defined in section 15 below.

The current application fee is £50 per structure.

Risk management authorities discourage culverts in watercourses (see section 9).

Contact your risk management authority as soon as possible to discuss your plans. It will need to see detailed proposals for the work and receive your consent application, including the fee, at least two months before you intend to start work.

When applying for consent, you may need to complete a Water Framework Directive compliance assessment. This is to ensure your proposal does not harm the environment and helps to deliver the actions set out in your local River Basin Management Plan. Water Framework Directive compliance assessments can be time consuming. Please contact your risk management authority at an early stage to find out if they need an

#### Flood defence/ordinary watercourse consents

assessment, and agree its scope. This avoids delays and wasted effort. Once preliminary details have been agreed, you can complete the application form and return it to the authority with the appropriate fee.

The risk management authority will decide whether or not they agree to the works within two months. You can appeal against the decision if you think consent has been refused unreasonably. You will be told more about the appeals procedure if the authority decides to refuse consent. An independent arbitrator will hear the appeal.

You must not do any work without consent. If you do, it could be expensive. The risk management authority can reclaim from you the cost of whatever action they decide is necessary to remove or alter your work. They can also require you to put things right. If you fail to comply with a notice to rectify problems you may face criminal charges.

A consent only covers the impact of the structure on flood risk and the environment:

The risk management authority does not assess or approve the design of a structure or check whether your plan complies with other legislation, such as health and safety. It does not allow you to carry out works on land or rivers that you do not own. You must have the landowner's permission as well as the consent.

If you are a landowner affected by flooding, you may benefit from an environmental stewardship scheme that focuses on the coast or floodplain, or the equivalent scheme in Wales, which is known as Glastir. The relevant authority can give you advice; Natural England (www.naturalengland. org.uk) or, in Wales the Welsh Government (http://wales.gov.uk/ topics/environmentcountryside/ farmingandcountryside/farming/ glastirhome/?lang=en).

You may also be able to apply to a conservation scheme for the restoration of, or creation of, features in a watercourse or on the floodplain. You will still require consent for any works and may have to show this consent before a conservation scheme can be agreed. Contact the funding organisation and the risk management authority's local office before you make a funding application to avoid delays.

# 6 Planning permission

Works on a watercourse may require planning permission, as well as flood defence or ordinary watercourse consent. Your local planning authority can advise whether your proposed works will require planning permission, and possibly a flood risk/flood consequence assessment to support your application.

Your local planning authority may require you to provide an Environmental Statement if your proposed works on a watercourse or lake could have a significant environmental impact. Contact your local planning authority for more information.

The Environment Agency is a statutory consultee on planning applications that relate to the environmental matters they are responsible for, including protecting floodplains from inappropriate development. Local Environment Agency staff can advise you on development issues in the floodplain. The Environment Agency comments on planning policies and applications to local planning authorities. But it is the local planning authority that makes these policies and approves these applications. For details of government policy on development and flood risk, see:

- The National Planning Policy Framework and associated technical guide. This sets out the Government's requirements for the Town and Country planning system in England.
- Technical Advice Note 15, published by the Welsh Government in Wales.

These publications and other information are available for England from the Department of Communities and Local Government website http://www.communities.gov.uk/ publications/planningandbuilding/ nppf and for Wales at the Welsh Government website http://wales. gov.uk/topics/planning/policy/tans/ tan15/?lang=en.

# 7 Other consents and licences



You may need the Environment Agency's permission for other activities which affect the water environment.

#### Water resources

You may need a licence from the Environment Agency to abstract water from or impound water on a watercourse. They will ensure that:

- your proposals will not harm the environment;
- existing abstraction rights are protected;
- water resources are managed in the best interests of the environment and other lawful users.

You will almost certainly need an abstraction licence if you want to:

- remove or abstract water from a surface source such as a river, stream or canal; and
- take more than 20 cubic metres (approximately 4,400 gallons) a day.

Contact your local Environment Agency office if you want to abstract water. The Environment Agency guide Abstracting water - a guide to getting your licence is available at: http:// www.environment-agency.gov.uk/ business/topics/water/32020.aspx

Hydropower (or hydroelectric power) schemes harness the energy from flowing water to generate electricity, using a turbine or other device. There are various permissions required if you would like to set up a hydropower scheme. For more information please call the Environment Agency or visit their website at http:// www.environment-agency.gov.uk/ business/topics/water/32022.aspx.

Water abstraction is a cross compliance standard. Cross Compliance is the set of conditions which have to be met by farmers who claim payments under the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) (such as the Single Payment Scheme). These

#### Other consents and licences

conditions cover public, animal and plant health, animal welfare, the environment and landscape features. If you are a farmer and do not meet these rules it may result in reductions to your Single Farm Payment or other scheme payments. See section 13 for further information on Cross Compliance Standards and the Single Payment Scheme.

#### Water discharge activities/ groundwater activities

You may require an environmental permit or exemption or a consent from your Internal Drainage Board (definition in section 15) if you want to release or discharge any water or trade or sewage effluent to 'controlled waters'. Controlled waters include main rivers, ordinary watercourses, some lakes and ponds, canals, reservoirs and underground sources.

If the water is clean surface runoff, for example, from a roof, road, pathway or clean hard standing area, you do not need a permit or exemption. You just need to make sure your discharge stays clean and uncontaminated.

You may also need separate flood defence or ordinary watercourse consent from your local risk management authority if you are building a structure such as a headwall for discharges. The Environment Agency uses the consents system to protect water quality and its environmental value. They set water quality objectives and make sure discharges comply with European Directive standards.

For more information on environmental permits visit the Environment Agency website at http://www.environment-agency.gov. uk/business/topics/water.

#### **Fisheries**

The Environment Agency has a duty to maintain, improve and develop fisheries. It assesses stock, improves habitat and restocks rivers. It grants and regulates licences to introduce and remove fish, as well as issuing rod licences and commercial eel and salmon licences. The Salmon and Freshwater Fisheries Act 1975, the Salmon Act 1986, and various byelaws cover this work.

The Environment Agency regulates structures, sluices and dams that stop freshwater fish, salmon, trout and eels moving along the river. If you want to build a new structure or alter or refurbish an existing one on a river on your land, you may need to install a fish pass or screen in accordance with the Salmon and Fresh Water Fisheries Act 1975, or an eel pass or screen in accordance with the Eels (England and Wales) Regulations 2009 Statutory Instrument No. 3344.

Over the coming years, the Environment Agency will be informing land owners if they will need to install an eel pass or screen on their existing structures. If you intend to build, modify or maintain an existing structure you are legally obliged to inform the Environment Agency. Contact the fisheries and biodiversity team at your local Environment Agency office for more information.

You must have an Environment Agency rod licence if you are fishing for salmon, trout, freshwater fish or eels in:

- England (except the River Tweed);
- Wales;
- the Border Esk and its tributaries in Scotland.

Money from licence sales funds fisheries management. If you fish without a licence, you could be fined up to £2,500.

#### **Recreation and navigation**

The Environment Agency has a duty to encourage the appropriate recreational use of watercourses. On some rivers they are also responsible for navigation. In this role the Environment Agency may require special licensing or place restrictions on plans for the bed or banks of a river. These requirements may affect proposals for mooring and landing facilities and you may also need a boat licence.

#### **Right of entry**

Your risk management authority may need to come onto your land to carry out flood risk management work. Risk management authorities try to make sure that they always have access to riverbanks, so that they can carry out essential maintenance and other work quickly and safely.

They have statutory powers of entry so that they can do their job properly and without delay. Whenever possible they will co-operate with you, but they can obtain a warrant from the courts if you refuse them entry to your land. All risk management authority staff carry identity cards.

# 8 Water Framework Directive

Like riparian land owners, all risk management authorities must consider the Water Framework Directive when they plan works on a watercourse.

The Water Framework Directive is a European law, which provides a framework for the protection of the water environment (including rivers, lakes, estuaries and other watercourses). It aims to:

- protect and enhance our water environment;
- promote sustainable water consumption;
- reduce water pollution;
- lessen the effects of floods and droughts.

The Water Framework Directive is being applied in England and Wales using River Basin Management Plans. When the Environment Agency does flood risk management works, it assesses whether its proposals could damage the river. If this is the case, it must complete a Water Framework Directive compliance assessment. It must make sure that the proposal does not cause environmental harm, and helps to deliver the actions set out in the local River Basin Management Plan. This also applies to any person who would like to carry out works affecting a watercourse.

Under the Water Framework Directive, a riparian owner who harms a watercourse may be required to put it right.

For more information on how the Water Framework Directive affects you, please visit the Environment Agency website www.environmentagency.gov.uk/wfd.

# 9 Culverts

#### A culvert is a watercourse that has been enclosed in a structure such as a pipe.

This is usually done so that the land above the watercourse can be used for other things, for example a driveway or school playground. Culverts do not include sewers. The legal definition of a culvert is set out in the explanation of terms in section 15.

Risk management authorities discourage the construction of new culverts because they increase flood risk and damage the environment. They are likely to only allow a culvert to be built if there is no alternative. If you want to build a new culvert or alter an existing one, your local risk management authority must consent to the works. Please contact them for more information.

If there is a culvert on your land, you generally own it from where it enters to the point it leaves your land. You are responsible for maintaining culverts on your land. Culverts can

#### CULVERTS CAN BE DANGEROUS

You risk injury, drowning or becoming trapped by going into a culvert. Culverts are confined spaces that can contain noxious gases. Only trained, properly equipped people should go inside them.

collapse and cause the ground above to subside if they are not maintained properly. Water cannot flow through blocked culverts, and may back up and cause flooding above ground.

It is not always easy to find culverts, especially if they were built a long time ago. Maps and records may not be accurate or could have been lost or never made in the first place. If you think you have a culvert on your land, but do not know where it is or are worried about its condition, you should arrange for a professional company to do a survey. Your risk management authority also has some information on culverts.

It is your responsibility to let water flow through your land without obstruction, pollution or diversion affecting the rights of others. This means you must clear a blocked culvert on your land or under your property.

# 10 Mills and weirs

A river control structure affects river levels and flow, for example a mill dam or weir. If you own one you are legally obliged to maintain and operate the structure properly.

You must also fulfil your land drainage byelaw obligations which are explained in Appendices 1 and 2. If anyone suffers loss or damage because you have changed or neglected your structure they can take civil action against you. You must:

- keep gates and screens clear of obstructions so that they work properly.
- obtain an abstraction licence if you intend to take water from the river.
   See section 7 for more details.
- contact your risk management authority if you want to build a weir, sluice gate or other control structure, or if you would like to modify an existing structure. You may need their consent, and possibly an impounding licence from the Environment Agency. Impoundment licenses are needed when you want to dam a watercourse or build a weir. Risk management authorities

discourage these obstructions being built because of their environmental impacts.

You may also be required to include a fish pass or screen when a river control structure is built, rebuilt or refurbished to any extent.

You can discuss the maintenance and operation of river control structures with your risk management authority. If you are buying a property with a river control structure, contact them to introduce yourself. If your structure is on a main river your risk management authority will be the Environment Agency and if your structure is on an ordinary watercourse it will be either your local authority or Internal Drainage Board. More information on these risk management authorities is available in appendices 1 and 2. You can find out what you need to know, how you can work with them and what problems may arise.

# **11 Tidal watercourses**

The tide can affect rivers that flow into the sea for large distances inland.

If the watercourse on your land is affected by the tide, your land is downstream of the tidal limit. In this case, you may require a marine licence from the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) in England and the Marine Consent Unit (MCU) in the Welsh Government before doing some types of work. This licence is in addition to the flood defence consent described in section 5.

The Environment Agency can waiver a flood defence consent if satisfied that a marine licence adequately addresses flood risk management issues. Please contact the Environment Agency and MMO or MCU to discuss this further. Please contact your risk management authority and the MMO or MCU as soon as possible if you are planning works in a tidal watercourse. They will tell you which licences you need.

For further information on marine licensing in England visit the MMO website www.marinemanagement.org.uk.

For further information on marine licensing in Wales visit the Welsh Government website http://wales.gov.uk/topics/ environmentcountryside/ consmanagement/marinefisheries/ licencing/?lang=en

# 12 Erosion of river banks

Moving water naturally wears away riverbanks causing erosion. Narrowing the river channel, reinforcing the banks in the wrong place and overgrazing the banks can cause more erosion.

The landowner is usually responsible for work to reduce bank erosion. Risk management authorities usually only get involved where natural erosion threatens a flood defence. The local risk management authority will probably need to agree to any bank protection work. They will encourage you to use soft engineering techniques, where possible. This means using natural materials such as woven willow spiling or planting to limit erosion, rather than blockstone or steel sheet piles.



# 13 Land management

Farmers should use techniques to prevent rainwater from carrying off topsoil into the watercourse and leading to a potential pollution incident. This runoff damages the land and the ecology, quality and capacity of the river channel. Allowing runoff may constitute a criminal offence. If you are a farmer, this could threaten your Single Farm Payment.

Soil protection is a cross compliance standard and all claimants are required to complete and retain on farm a Soil Protection Review (SPR) 2010, which is defined in section 15.

#### Land management

You can find information about preventing soil erosion and runoff in the following publications:

- The Environment Agency booklet, Best farming practice: profiting from a good environment (2003);Soil Protection Review 2010 at www.rpa.defra.gov.uk/ crosscompliance/farmerguidance;
- the Defra booklet Single Payment Scheme. Cross Compliance.
   Guidance for Soil Management (2010): www.rpa.defra.gov.uk/ crosscompliance/farmerguidance
- Think Soils Publication, which gives soil assessment guidance with the aim of avoiding runoff and erosion: http://adlib.everysite. co.uk/adlib/defra/content. aspx?doc=263232&id=263233
- Welsh Government cross compliance self assessment guidance: http://wales.gov.uk/ topics/environmentcountryside/ farmingconnect/ farmadvisoryservice/ crosscomplianceselfassessment/cc selfassessmentguidance/?lang=en

If you live in England you could receive money under the Environmental Stewardship scheme to help improve your management practices. Visit the Environment Agency web site http://www. environment-agency.gov.uk/ business/sectors/32763.aspx for more information.

If you live in Wales you could receive money under Glastir which pays for the delivery of specific environmental goods and services aimed at combating climate change, improving water management and maintaining and enhancing biodiversity. Visit the Welsh Government website for more information

http://wales.gov.uk/topics/ environmentcountryside/ farmingandcountryside/farming/ glastirhome/?lang=en

For more information on pollution prevention, please see the Environment Agency's pollution prevention guidance advice, which is available on their website or from their local office.

Land management

#### Cross compliance and Single Payment Scheme

If you claim the Single Payment Scheme or certain Rural Development Scheme payments, such as Environmental Stewardship, then cross compliance rules will apply to you. Cross compliance includes a set of specific European legal requirements, known as Statutory Management Requirements (SMRs) and standards, based on a legal Framework, which require you to keep your land in Good Agricultural and Environmental Condition (GAEC). Several of these SMRs and GAECs are directly applicable to protecting watercourses and also cover the land around watercourses.

The Guide to Cross Compliance in England 2012 edition outlines the rules you must follow and you should read this carefully if you claim, or intend to claim, any of these payments. If you fail to meet these rules then the Rural Payments Agency (RPA) may reduce your payments. Information on cross compliance, including all guidance documents, can be found on the RPA website at www.rpa.defra.gov.uk/ crosscompliance. If you need technical advice or assistance about cross compliance, please phone the Farming Advice Service on 0845 345 1302 (Monday to Friday, 9am to 5pm) or visit their website at www.defra. gov.uk/farming-advice.

The Welsh Assembly Government has published A Farmer's guide to cross compliance which outlines the regulatory requirement that farmers have to meet in order to receive the Single Payment Scheme and Rural Development area based scheme payments. Failure to meet any of the cross compliance standards could result in a financial penalty being imposed on your Single Farm Payment and Rural Development area based schemes.

Further information on cross compliance for farmers in Wales is available on the Welsh Government website at: http://wales.gov.uk/ topics/environmentcountryside/ farmingandcountryside/farming/ crosscompliance/?lang=en

# 14 The role of other organisations

#### Archaeology

Your local authority is responsible for making sure that areas of archaeological importance are protected from damage that could be caused by works in or near watercourses. If your proposed works may affect archaeological remains, or if you discover archaeological remains on your land during the works, you should contact your local authority. The local archaeological officer will be able to advise you further.

#### Nature conservation

You will need permission for works in or near a watercourse from a conservation body as well as the risk management authority if your proposed works:

- are on or may affect a site protected by law, such as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or Special Area of Conservation; or
- are on a site which supports a legally protected species, such as otters or water voles.

In these circumstances you must contact the relevant conservation body:

- Natural England. Visit www.naturalengland.org.uk;
- Countryside Council for Wales.
  Visit www.ccw.gov.uk.

Ask your risk management authority for advice if you are not sure who to contact.



#### Navigation

The tidal reaches of many rivers, where the sea flows in and out of the mouth of the river, have public rights of navigation. Harbour authorities may have some control in these reaches. The Environment Agency has control over navigation for some waterways only, and will not become involved in disputes or give legal advice about navigating any other waterways. Find out which waterways we control. http://www.environmentagency.gov.uk/homeandleisure/ recreation/129916.aspx

#### Marine Management Organisation (MMO) and Marine Consent Unit (MCU)

If the watercourse running through or alongside your land is affected by the tide, you may require a marine licence from the MMO in England or MCU in Wales as well as a flood defence or ordinary watercourse consent before doing works. (see section 11) The MMO and MCU are interested in works on tidal watercourses because they affect the marine environment.

#### Rural Payments Agency/ Rural Payments Wales

The Rural Payments Agency in England and Rural Payments Wales are the paying agencies for Common Agricultural Policy schemes such as the Single Payment Scheme. They are also Competent Control Authorities for cross compliance and carry out inspections to check if claimants are adhering to the cross compliance rules, including those which protect watercourses.

# 15 Explanation of terms

#### Main rivers

Main rivers are usually larger streams and rivers, but some of them are smaller watercourses of local significance. In England Defra decides which watercourses are the main rivers, and the Welsh Government does this in Wales.

Main rivers are marked on an official document called the main river map. Environment Agency local offices have copies of these maps.

Main rivers can include any structure that controls or regulates the flow of water in, into or out of the channel.

#### Ordinary watercourse

An ordinary watercourse is every river, stream, ditch, drain, cut, dyke, sluice, sewer (other than a public sewer) and passage through which water flows, but which does not form part of a main river. The local authority or Internal Drainage Board has powers on ordinary watercourses similar to the Environment Agency's powers on main rivers.

#### Lead local flood authority

In England this means—

(a) the unitary authority for the area, or

(b) if there is no unitary authority, the county council for the area.

In Wales this means—

(a) the county council for the area;(b) the county borough council for the area.

#### Internal Drainage Board

Internal Drainage Boards (IDBs) are established in areas of special drainage known as drainage districts. Their functions include the supervision of land drainage, water level management and flood risk management works and regulation on ordinary watercourses.



#### Culvert

A covered channel or pipe designed to prevent the obstruction of a watercourse or drainage path by an artificial construction.

#### Flood defence

Some legislation still uses the terms 'flood defence' or 'land drainage'. We now refer to these activities as 'flood risk management', but may use the other terms for legal purposes.

#### Floodplain

A floodplain is an area of land over which river or sea water flows or is stored during a flood. Floodplains usually extend beyond the land immediately next to a watercourse. There is often pressure to build on them. However, buildings or other artificial objects can obstruct floodplains, block the flow of water and make flooding worse.

#### Groundwater

Groundwater is all water which is below the surface of the ground and in direct contact with the ground or subsoil.

#### Surface water runoff

Surface water runoff is rainwater, including snow. It is water on the surface of the ground, whether or not it is moving, which has not entered a watercourse, drainage system or public sewer.

#### Risk management authority

The following risk management authorities have powers over and responsibilities for watercourse management:

- the Environment Agency;
- Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFAs);
- Internal Drainage Boards (IDBs).

#### **Explanation of terms**

#### Water discharge activity

A water discharge activity is the discharge or entry to surface waters which are controlled waters (but not to groundwater) of any poisonous, noxious or polluting matter, waste matter, trade effluent or sewage effluent. It also includes activities that cause deposits to be carried away in water (except for those that relate to land drainage, flood prevention or navigation). Examples are the removal of accumulated deposits from the bottom of a channel caused by a dam holding back waters or, in some cases, cutting or uprooting a substantial amount of vegetation in or near inland freshwaters if the debris falls into the water.

#### **Groundwater Activity**

A groundwater activity is the discharge of a pollutant that results in, or might lead to, a direct or indirect input to groundwater. It also covers:

- any other discharge that might lead to a direct or indirect input of a pollutant to groundwater;
- an activity in respect of which a notice under Schedule 22 of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 has taken effect;, or
- an activity that might lead to a discharge, as already mentioned, where that activity is carried on as part of the operation of a regulated facility of another class.

#### Soil Protection Review (SPR) 2010

This document requires farmers to complete a risk assessment for all the fields on their farm and select measures to address any soil issues.

### For help and information during a flood call Floodline on 0845 988 1188.



Environment Agency Living on the edge 31

### 1 The role of the Environment Agency

The Environment Agency is one of the risk management authorities as defined by the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Protecting the river environment and managing flood risk is part of its job. This means that some of its duties and powers affect riparian owners.

The Environment Agency is the risk management authority you need to contact if you would like more information on main rivers and matters relating to flooding from main rivers and the sea.

#### **Powers**

The Environment Agency has powers to work on main rivers (defined in section 15) and the sea to manage flood risk

These powers allow it to do work. However, it does not have to maintain or construct new works on main rivers or the sea. It is unlikely to maintain a watercourse to improve the amenity of the river or to stop erosion that does not increase flood risk. Flood risk management works can include:

- constructing and maintaining flood risk management assets, for example flood banks, and works on main rivers to manage water levels and make sure flood water can flow freely.
- operating flood risk management assets during a flood.
- dredging the river. The Environment Agency can dispose of the material on land within reach of the dredging machine's boom.
- issuing flood warnings.

It can also do work to prevent environmental damage to watercourses, or to restore conditions where damage has already been done.

The Environment Agency has the power to make byelaws. Your local Environment Agency office can provide you with the relevant byelaws for where you live. The Environment Agency can serve notice on you if you have not maintained a watercourse on your land that is causing problems, such as increasing flood risk.

#### **Duties**

The Environment Agency has strategic roles for all sources of flooding and coastal erosion in England and Wales. It has produced with Defra a national strategy for flood and coastal erosion risk management in England and worked with the Welsh Government on a national strategy for Wales. These strategies show how communities, the public sector and other organisations can work together to manage the risk. This includes the development of local flood risk management strategies by lead local flood authorities such as county and unitary councils.

A summary of the National Strategy for England can be found at http://publications. environment-agency.gov.uk/dispay. php?name=GEHO0711BTZE-E-E

Information on the National Strategy for Wales can be found at http://wales.gov.uk/topics/ environmentcountryside/ epq/waterflooding/flooding/ nationalstrategy/?lang=en

The Environment Agency also has a duty to promote the conservation of the water environment, the natural beauty of rivers and wetlands, and the wildlife that lives there. It assesses the impacts of any proposal on the whole environment. For riparian owners, this means that the Environment Agency will assess the environmental impacts of proposals for any works in or adjacent to rivers. It will discuss how and when the work might be done to protect the environment.

### 2 The Role of your local authority (LA) and Internal Drainage Board (IDB)

Certain local authorities (LAs) as well as Internal Drainage Boards (IDBs) are risk management authorities. They have powers to manage flood risk from ordinary watercourses. In their flood risk management role LAs are known as Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFA) (see explanation of terms in section 15) and IDBs are known as risk management authorities as explained earlier. Not all local authorities are risk management authorities and therefore LLFAs. The definition of an LLFA in section 15 outlines the types of local authority in both England and Wales that act as risk management authorities.

If you live in an area with a two tier local authority it is the county council who will act as the Lead Local Flood Authority. However, you should contact your local authority to confirm who your contact should be.

In areas known as internal drainage districts the risk management authority is the Internal Drainage Board for the area and they have powers on ordinary watercourses instead of the LA.

IDBs are local public bodies established in areas of special drainage need in England and Wales to manage flood risk and water levels on behalf of their community. For more information on Internal Drainage Boards please visit the Association of Drainage Authorities website http://www.ada.org.uk/

IDBs are generally located in the Broads, Fens, East Anglia, Lincolnshire, Somerset Levels and Yorkshire. To determine whether your property lies within an internal drainage district please contact the Association of Drainage Engineers on 020 8399 7350 or visit their website http://www.ada.org.uk/ showmembers.php?fs=&type=idbs

LLFAs and IDBs have an important role in managing local flood risk, which covers flooding from surface water, ground water and ordinary watercourses. You need permission from your LA or IDB to do certain types of works in an ordinary watercourse. These permissions are called Flood Defence Consents in England and Ordinary Watercourse Consents in Wales. The activities that require consent are described in section 5.

We recommend that you contact your risk management authority as soon as possible if you are planning works in an ordinary watercourse.

#### Powers

Under the Land Drainage Act 1991 and recent changes in the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, LAs and IDBs have powers to manage flood risk from ordinary watercourses, surface water runoff, and groundwater.

Their powers allow them to:

- carry out works to manage flood risk from these sources and that will contribute to the local flood risk management strategy.
- serve notice on you if you have not maintained a watercourse on your land, and the proper flow of water is not possible or it is increasing flood risk.

Works to manage flood risk can include:

 maintaining existing works, including buildings and structures. This includes repairing and generally maintaining the efficiency of an existing watercourse or drainage work: improving existing works: altering or removing works and reducing or increasing the level of water in a place.

- operating existing structures (such as sluice gates or pumps).
- building or repairing new works, including buildings, structures, watercourses, drainage works and machinery.

These powers allow them to do work. However, they do not have to maintain or construct new works on ordinary watercourses. LAs and IDBs may also have additional regulations and bylaws, which will affect what you can and cannot do on an ordinary watercourse.

#### **Duties**

All LLFAs in England and Wales must develop, maintain, apply and monitor a local flood risk management strategy for their area. The strategy must deal with the three sources of flood risk outlined above and interactions between these sources and other types of flood risk. Please contact your LLFA for more information on your local flood risk management strategy.

LLFAs also keep a register of structures that have a significant effect on flood management in their area. The list includes who owns the structure and what state of repair it is in.

# Would you like to find out more about us, or about your environment?

Then call us on 03708 506 506 (Mon-Fri 8-6)

Calls to 03 numbers cost the same as calls to standard geographic numbers (i.e. numbers beginning with 01 or 02).

email enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk or visit our website www.environment-agency.gov.uk

incident hotline 0800 80 70 60 (24hrs) floodline 0845 988 1188

Environment first: Are you viewing this on-screen? Please consider the environment and only print if absolutely necessary. If you're reading a paper copy, please don't forget to reuse and recycle if possible.